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L: So, wheg kind of =a béckground do you have?

R: Do you mezn politicelly or in genersl?®

- My parents were, I sup-ose one would cell them
petty borgeousie, znd my father was at first a sort

of menufesctureer's representative, = sort of scles
person, end my mother steyed 2t home 2%t firet, but
then =t the age of forty, she went 2nd did = socisl
science degree snd from then onwerds wes 2 nrofescion-
21l = well head varioue professionsl jobs.

It wase a feikrly liberal background in the sense
thet tbey were founder members of tqe Progressive
Partyoe

I war myself = member of the Progressives, the
Young Progressives until agbeout 1964, =2nd at thet
time T sterted to believe in universal suffrage
end it wss convenient that T got elected to the
Nusas executive and they s=2id you shouldn't belong
to sny politieal »nsrty snd on that pretext I resigned
from the Progs, 2

I can't remember 1 f there wes szctuslly o
liberesl “ﬁ*tv then. It h=ad been b”nnod wedl not -
brnrned, but the legislation prohibition of improner
1ntﬂrference legis T#tion mede it difficult for

them to continue to opercte. '
Mnd so I wsg drifting eswry from Prog tyn
liberrliem - T remsined = “rng for & long time.
nd my frmily We e berjpnjrﬁ to think whet else?
lthough my ;11v were liberrls they were
ﬂlrFV” ﬁoh_t1ve1v dlfrosed tow=rds peonle in tne
Conrress Novement, like slthough my father died, I
supe Hhut 1f he P:d Yeen glive when T wes frreeted
he would hove been very nroud of whet I'd done.
He sdmired Brassm Fischer very much,; although
e wreg very snti-comrmunict T thinlk. 4&nd my mother
lso sdmired people lilze thrt, I“'e.“!..;,,orza. I'endels,
imilzr neonle in the Congress MNovement,
So I come from o home which although it
liversl - it ween't anti-liberstion mowement - ¢
my corncexntuslism of liberslism had nothing to do
with canitslism end socislismy the mistake that
peonle meke when they 1dent1fv capitalism with
libergliem. Ny idea of libersliem when I wee little,
wes thot it wes 2 udeful vehicle for anti-spertheid
activities. Tt's the only form of enti-spertheid
activities which I lknew. #nd in fact when I was 2
student, 2nd 211 these peorle joined Africen Resist-
gnce lovement, the white Sabotage group, I covld cuit
ea=sily have beﬁn drawvn into something like thrt or
into ANC activities - thet's in 1964 - just becsuse
I didn't see 3 substantial difference in mybprientation
and what these people had undertaken.

r'.-|

1) b
,ri .70

o o/ 8 034



o../2 +.034 R. Suttner

Recont®: T wvery much admired Nelson liandelea's sneech
ITrom the dock and PBrzhm's speech in the dock. But
I wae still liberal, But T didn't understand =11
the implications of the nolicy behind the orgrnis-
=tion.

Do you went to know snything more shout my

¥het geners-tion of South Africen sre you?

E: I'm not sure — T think my grendunarente emigreted ¥
South Africes, from ILithuenie on my father's side and
rom London my mother's side., T think the grondfother

on my mother's side might heve Yeen even further brck.

But T'; not sure. I' not very into femily trees.
T * reloted to Berth? von Suttner, the Nobel
Prize winner, but T use thet merely when T clzim
sorietimes thet I'm zctuslly a2 baron you know, ond

51

ort of nurmoce not to investig-te.

ftind, you kind of made thrt jumn where you sunnrted
wniversal suffpege. I'm interested you know, ..

R: It wee gn intellectu=l dupn in » sence. T

wes alwrye morslly onrosed Lo apertheid. Iy porents
inculested in me 2-belief in ungelfish necs =214 o
concern with other neonple snd thot vou shiouldn't

actuslly nerticimete in sectivities which could b8
a very strong

P
=3

hurtful to others, smd so there
emnheais on nonesty.

ind on the one hsnd T couvldn't stick by
the belief...interuntion.

=

: You o...is there any kind of inecident thet you
Temember in terms of thot moved you noliticelly
or thst you remember when you first heard of the
imnlications of r-cism thet you were involved
with?

R: I hedn't really hesrd of lMandela, but in 1961 or
62, T uged to catch the bus at the Parsde, and I
used to see these notices up there from the
Ilinister of Justice saying any meeting in respect
of Nelson liardeal blsh blzh, I don't remember the
rezt of he story, but I84 see these notices, so it
wes o name thet figured in my conscioucness,
But I don't think I was sctuslly very well

awere of it until the Rivonai trial to be frenk.
I knew of Iflthul¢, but I didn't read any ANC ligt-
erature or communist porty litersture until much
later,

The first thing I ever resd was Helson Man-
dela's first speech in the dock in '62, the first

I don't use the title, So T actuslly use it for thot

trial and #hen later the same yesr, which is about

'63 or 64, I rezd his second sneech from the dock,
It wes a very emotional resnonse thest I had.
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Reont: It ween't wrt of a considered undercstending.
1t receded into the background snd i didn't see eny
contredictione between that and activities in Nusss,
well T don't think there is any contresdiction, but
for yesrs I wee very sctive in liberel activities in
Nuers and so fortind T didn't teke = stev awey from
that « I didn't gctuslly heve the ovn ortunity.

The op-ortunity might have been before these
guys got arrested in '64, sometime lster someone told
me thet they hed sctueslly wanted to recruit me for

sorething or other and then they got hsuled in.
I'm glrd 4 wrsn't, but I wouldn't have been ecuio-—
ned to hendle it at thet stege.TI was ycung and
inexerienced znd undeveloped politically.

So, the breek from being aliberal came very

much later snd I'm very, I tend to do thirge in

an intellectual wey, end whet happened - do you
went me to go onto that?- Hmmm-

T had to give a talk once on the future of lib=-
eralism at a symposium and T remember Ryfie Keplinsky(?)
I don't know if you know him%? He’s now a Sumsex
lecturerer...he once led a sit in at UCT in '58,
cuite 2 lot younger thsn me. Anyway, when I was
going to give this leture, he gave me something
to rezd by C Wright Mills, an Americen sociologist,
and beasicelly the consecuence of reasding this, I came
to the conclusion that liberslism wzs irrelevent,
but I didn't actuelly trke the next sten.

30 I gove o very nessimistic innut at this thing
whichh I think weg correct and incorrect slso becsuse
it doesn't teke things further. T *68 or so, snd
I didn't do very much else until the end of '6C¢. I
wes o very smbhitious scademic et this stege - T wes

cuite =n embiticuve hloke., JfAnd when I Jeft SRCes end
211 thot, T then went irteo scademic life =md storted
to nroduce =t 7 furious prece orticles ~md whret heve
vou end £t o certsin boih+, I wes given o sort of
bresthing snece vwhicn mede me think on the life T wes

- < '
lesding ond which eleso mode me return to wolitienl
By e end vhet heonmened wog I wre doins o mosters
o nd vwh hrmoened LB

of Low thegis, and when I wes sbhout townd it in

they e-id to me You're cuotbting Jrek Simons =nd dJeck
K -y

Simons ie ligted therefore it's illegsl =-nd thercfore
o runt cut him cut. el weg = libhersl gtill ol Ees
A Tiherol who Ffelt theot wvou esxvi'™ cuvolte scrmeone
elrets work =& yoiu n sensge of »nromerty you kmow,
scoreone elgesy, My OuT 0ditye
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Dot g variety of things in my life. Why was I
just responding to things in this way...0h, as it
happened someone gave me & book to read, an intro-
duction to Marxism and it made me think gbout myself,
as a person who was responging to the ethos of cap-
italist society in this wsy, becoming such an extreme
form of it, the way I was so competitive - driving
myself ¥o produce and all this sort of thing, as if
I was such a hot shot, and why did I 211 the time
have to keep on proving it and this alsm made me think
politically again.

And this work on Marxism really opened my eyes
and 1 was very shocked,: I actually had re=d the Book
not because I wanted to read the book not for politic-

al reasons but because | was a bit intellectually
arrogant, and for someone as intellectually arrogant
as myself, I thought I should reasd Marx, just as 1
should read Fabe(?) or anyone else, and all that
sort of thinge

So, I read this thing and it stunned me, All
this business about what I had understood as a const=-
itutuignal battle in the seventeenth centurey, they
explained completely differently, and here I was
taking all these years.

And then I started tolhink - this whole thing
rocked my life in general. I was about to go and s
study over in Oxford, but I made up my mind how to
act politically. And ! wasfhinking abowt isolated
political acts like the had done in the sixties.
And {1 wasn't wuite sure what to doy, but when I
went overseas, although I was supposed to go and
do a doctorate, already before I left I was orkent-
ating myself back to a political frame of mind
and also defineitely towards illegal activities.

I didn't think directly of ANC or Communist
Party, but I wagsn't unfavourably disposed towards
them".

And something I must mention about that. Now-
ad,ys you see sn ANC newspaper every day, but in
those days, I'm not sure to what extent it exist-
ed, cos they'd very successfully wiped it out of
the newspapers, and if they mentioned either, they'd
mention the Commuhist Party, because they tried to
imply that the ANC was just e front for the CP and
stuff like thise

So, I wasn't actually sure Bow much the AN
and the CP existed, And so I went overseas, and I
contacted some people and I don't know how
seriously they tbok me, because I suppose a lot of
people come over here end say Look I want to get in-
volved and all that, and they say well there®s time,
i'm going to Oxford and all that. And I kept on
negeing and nagging and I went to Oxford and Ives
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RcontI was getting so fed upe

First was supposed to do a doctorate, and man
they are such pains in the arses - sorry this is un-
becoming language = they are, really impossible
people.

* was going to @o a thesis on civil dis-
obedience, and the guy they give me as a super-
visor, & chap called Dorking%?) s very famous, and
all that. But he, regarded civil disobedience as a
question of Do you have to prosecute draft resistors?
That's just one minor aspect of the problem and I had
this guy as a supervisor and it was just messed up
from the beginning.

So I changed to something else, and such a

waste of time. Next I have these books 4 want to
read, and I had to read this crap you see, So,
I went to London and saw one of these blokes, and
he said to me, because I wanted to leave, I wanted
to get out there, so he said to me that I you
want advice, you go to the person that maves you
the advice you want to hear. And he agreed with
me that I should leave.

So 1 then went and transferred my scholarship
to S0AS, the School of Orientesl and African Studies,
I'd previously done work on African and Customary
law, that was what my thesis was on that I*'d with-
drawn you see,

But I didn't really last very long there§y
I basically sterted to use the library and nothing
else, And, nagged them even more to recruit me for
something or other.

Eventually, I don't know how long it took,

I was introduced to people who were guite seriously
considering involving me, end then I was taken
through various political trscts and so forth end

I was very critical, well not critical, but I
argued like mad, particularly about things like

the alliance of the Soviet Union, and the cause,
and action of the Warsaw Pact countries in C¥edk-
oslavia, and sll these sorts of things,.

Becaguse, I still believed you must gotinto
something @f you're not completely sure that it's
correcte Obviously I'd rc¢ad a lot, becsuse I knew
thet if I were detained, I'd be drawing it up(?) so
T read a lot on those things and became sure that I
could handle it.

Anywsy, after a long time, and a lot oflhithese
people ardbn older generation, who don't know the
sort of debates that people like myself have been gai=
ng through, like I came to Marxism through New Left

Review, Monthly Review, these sorts of things which
are mainly anti-Soviet things and they regard the
South African Communist Party and the African Nati-
ional Congress, with something like contempt, as less-
er organisaticns who don't guite understand the
nature of class struggle and all that.

When I put these sorts of aguments to these
blokes, they didn't know what I was talking about, am
there was a big sort of generation gap - I mesn some
gfﬁt%ﬁse people like Jow Slov€y =re rezlly brillisnt,

% Sneventt rezally encountered some of these
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Rcont: some of these arguments., I think they do
deal with these arguments, but they're - it's not
an argument they're desling with In their daily
theoretical worke

One or two of the guys I weas in cortact with,
hed studied at LSE and so forth, so they knew the
Kobing Blazackburns end intellectual left tyrnes.

Anywey, I was eventually recruited to doing
various things and they set about a process of tre
ing me, mazinly i: nroductlon of propsganda; How to
send off namnh]et bombq - I never actually did it
in South Africe, they wouldn't let me do it for
various reasons, my being the one person who had
been recruited, and they didn't went to risk me.

But you know,. it's send this up in the
gir, and this is the ANC spesking and it's cuite
gpectacular., We used to do this in Hampsteed,
in thigs flat T wes in thet I nearly set alight,
and they used to sometimes do it on Hampstead Hesth,
and nearly get errested.

Mnywsy, I went through thet. And they taught m
me various things regarding surveillence =2nd counter-—
surveillance and in court cases you try and down-
grede the nsature of the training you receive, but
it wes sctuslly cuite useiul snd effective, but
what han ens when you're doing it, for so long they
don't wetch you, thet when yhey do start watching you,
you have forgotten to prectice the things that you
have to write it into your daily living.

But I was still a very boring . intellectusnl
type, and I gave these guys such a herd time. I dont%
know how long this course wss sunposed to last, but
it lasted about four times as long, becruse any
theoreticael problem I hed, we had to go through,
and I wasn't so keen to Wecrn how to set up thege

emphlet bombs snd — I cen't remember, they taught
' me 2 lot of other things'whitch I was reslly useless
at doing - waye of setting down benners and then you
melt wax and they geve me numerous refresher comrses
-nd 1 wren't very ggood at thst, but I would still
go through the numerous theoretlcpﬁ rroblems,
P"nwlmg from the wer to communist attitudes to sex yo
know. BEvery aspect of the nroblems - we would
welk sround Hamvpste=zd Hesth, and these guys would
be given 2 re:rlly hard tlme, becauge - wented to be
absolutely sure of everything.

Then thet's the period in London. Do you
went it more on the personal side, or do you want
me to go politicnlly? Back to South Africa?

.: No, tell me sbout this pert - it's interesting,

(

R: Well, you see, I don't know if you read the book
celled the Gadfly znd there's 2 Soviet novel celled
How the Steel wss Tempered.

as il Te e 207



s ol T, »223 R Suttner

Rcont: Now in this book, How the Steel was Terpercd,
this bloke models himself on the guy from this
book the Gadfly who lezds & rezlly puritsnicel
life and he thinks this is whst 2 revolutionary is.

I was 2 bit like that, you see: I thought
I hed to prove to myself thet I could practice self-
denisl. The consecuence wae Oh, whet I loct out on!
Socially snd culturelly in Tondon - gvery nloy I
must hove migsed, well for shout s yeer;

In 2 aense it wes useful for mre, nort of

getting rid of these bourgeois tr:its, wre to

actunlly &) breck a pettern of trying 211 the tirme to

achieve, cochieve, but 2lsc to check that I couvld

acturlly hrndle privetion. It wes 2 very good trein-

ing for nrison ﬂctUb11V, because nrigon wes fine, T
ves used to priscon by then. Mnd certein things of
deni=1,

It's a hit srtificusl I thinlk, but for ny
perticulay cege it wes necessrry.

Mywey, they wrnted me to go to South

Africe. Tuckily, I wes offered = job in Durb-n in
Africomn Govermment o4 Lew, and they wented me %o
go there and nroduce lltcr',urﬂ thet they sent me:
ANC =nd Communist “erty stuff. TIrter I wre dning
something else myself, But enyway, from 1971 %o
1974, theot's vhet they wented me to do.

Now they wonted me to go thers first. 2Ind it

vos nice going to Durbsn,, beeause no-one lmew me there,

there wasn't = nroblem pgbout my nereconn. If I'd
cone hoelk to CPown: I'd ne r ﬂﬂvooﬁ og p moliticsl
neroen ~ond £11 thrt cort of '+ﬁ@? becsuse it would
heve beer hrrd to hide the fret rPFT L wee nov -
to suddenly descend into snonimity because in
Durbsn hnrdly -nyone 'mew me.

' I *U”+ %7'"06 the eecme of the scsdermic who

n mucic ond stuff lilke thot -

(%
'

veo yery interested i
L P}
f‘."" me '*71 T went bock £for 18 months - rrywey,

ent theére ~nd T used to try -nd tcll: to neorle

%nr net molitie-1lv directly heccuce T didn 't went

4

to heve o Wirh nrofile — T gteered clerr of wicges
corrigpione rnd Nuges Tt wre wvery difficult ot

times ‘hecruze or the one hrnd the mote “t*”“ rEerglEr

MO e

o 1d he nen le vho werr involved ir tlaerme gorlr

R iy e i T g o hend Ay R R T e S
of thivere On %he oty hond, cnee yor get 17D b anr
o mrefile, the molice =t rred mrrins nkhoatias En

< ry1
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I mnly onee spo g or ¢ peliltier
T1d crved Womy Fathews to ~ive o
Morroricr fet; ~nd he just couldn -
very technierl, but I never ever
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neve the wey for others, vhie» I honed the atudent:
STE 1B
Ecnecinlly Tor ffricr, I wran't =mronercd to s»end
"y . A ] R N & £l = o PR | y
my time grying thet Africe's r whole rege snd 211 t-4i
T +Mraye 4+ o *tey £ - g i Foa el e o Yo ;
0, L thougrt ther: weg smree in setuslly terching
ifriecrn Coverm-ert to sive = nrosrecsive nogition,
but not heir reisingly so. nd the studente were

so ifmorent in Durhrr; thrt they v-n16w'* —iecl un
whot wer ¢ nrogrecesive movitdon - they just didn't
much s=bout the wmtuff,

n thrt neriod, T wr2 %old thot I mushn’t nrod-
gtulf until I'm svre thet T wre clerr, but before
ad » crence to do enything, they 1zilled Timel,
=nd when I saw the incuent, :..you mow the rolice
threw him out of - well "e 21legedly jurmed out of
the window - go vhen Timgl's incuect wre on I sow
theot he hrd been doing whist T hod beern doings. So

it woo cuite brutelly end sterzly the rind of

thing T would hsve to free in the future. T re-
member I got ¢ ecirculcr, we used to comrunicate with
there underground invieible ink tyne letters, - I

got 2 circuvlor which must have gone to cuite o few
neople in this activity ssying hide 211 your mechinés
blch, bleh, blsh.

The thing is I wesn't actuelly usznﬁ them,at
thet store, And I thought to myself, has my stuff
been intercepted amd are the nolice nowgoing to
tran me?

Now we had some other form of code to check

that out, but it took cuite along time to find the
snswer to 2y A

Also because at a certain vpoint c*ound that
time if *+ recell corredtly, I had some romentic rel-
ationship on the go and it wes very herd to go and

develon these letters you see. This nerson seemed
2lways to be saround in my flat.

So there wes a breslk down in communications
before I even got going. Anywey it wes the letter,
but they'd made the error of not indivmdualising it
and so I got scored foo nothing.

Mnywey, I first got something out in July
13, two things during the vacation. Copies of
Inkululetﬂo, and the next thing 1 wes doing was a
sneech at DryDad®'s =2nd I remember I was busy doing
it and my father died. While I'm busy doing this
and it was very difficult to attache adecuate sig-
nificence to that while I'm busy v»roducing comrunist
party leaflet.

I did attech significance but I first hsd to
go through all the motions of putting all my: stuff
away securely and all this sort of thirg. But,
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Rcont: But, you lknow, neonle don't reslise that when
you're with the underground, you've got two lives

perzting simulteneously all the time and it's very
dllecu!t to not act insensitively to the other
asnect,

I remember peonle saying that only when I
wes agrrested did they understend things about the
wey I behaved which is very &ifficqﬂia In personal
relationships I felt I couldn't form a very close
relstionshiip with someone, becsuse I wouldn't be

able to tslk about the most intimste ports of my

llfe or what wes most serious to me. And how
would someone like that if the first they heerd

about that, when you're in love is that you're
involved in this kind of thing. &nd I felt this
would be very unfesir. And there wss cuite =2 barrier
in relationshins.

Mnd it meant thet you had to svnesr that

you were cuite & sell-out and it's quite difficult to
do theat. Unnleasent.

Mywey, I didn't produce very much Wwefore
Decemher 1?74, when I wesg invited to a conference
in Holland. And the Government pneaid for me to go
to this confercnce, the HSRC, and I met with various
people like Jow Slovey over there and we evaluated
what I had been doing. And ouite a lot of criticism
of what I had been doing. Not hesvy criticism,
but Jjust basicdlly suggesting to me thet I wes a2 bit
of 2 fool you knowe The way I used to go and do some
of these things wes reslly crazy.

Posting, I used to take a whole suitcase =and
then dump the whole lot into one most box if I coulzk
find one big enough. £nd they s=2id to me you =re
silly, they're going to intercent these thlrsﬂ
in one go that wey. You must do fifty here and
fifty there

And t is stupidity wes partly es a result of
working on my own, I didn't reslly have someone to
advise me on certsin things, fnd anywey they also
criticised my attitude to recruiting. Previwously,
they snid I musn't recruit enyone., And which wes
correct.

But after the Portuguese revolution, we all
felt this wrs going to dee @2 spurt forwerd in the
struggle to free Southern Africs in genersl, which
proved to be cerrect. And their sttitudes towards
recruitment beceme corres pondingly more ﬂenevoua in
the sense thet it wrﬂ felt that we must now think
of drewing in those people.

ind when 1 vqc telking about people I Pnew
mentioned this guy(ﬂhnn%?) who ultimately becs

stete witness, And I just mentioned what 1 tnougﬁt
of the puy @nd i wee given criticism from the level

of his ideological urderctﬁndiﬂv, and the criticised
me saying that I mustn't look =t myself as 2 sort of
typical recruit. If someone like myself, if they only
recruited mneople like myself, they would hesve hsod
no-one in the liberstion movemert beceuse modt neonk
weren't intellectusls. 4nd they too” thet criticiem
end went overboard to the opvosite extremes, And

I ceme to the conclusion I should recruit this guy
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Reont: recruit this guy when I came back.

Anywey, it proved ultimately to be en error,
But in the mesmtime, I recruited = Zulu lecturer
celled Jenny Roxborrough, who was very dedicated in
2 personal sense, in tn?t she was friendly with me
and all thet.

1 didn't reslly have a lot of time to molitic-
ire them properly in the wey I had been, very long
period of tresining, so that only eight months or so
before 1 wes arrested, from Sevntember to June,

Y15

And, one of the effects of recruiting them,
vas we vroduced much more. Beccuse for three ﬁeovle
to nroduce something it is much ocuicker. I als
wrote sor ething myself called Vukani end I intended
this to be ‘comment on the spo% on various thirgs
events we were gble to intervene.

What wos ocuite useful is thst we intervened
in regerd the talk of dislogue between Africen States
in South Africe, and we brought out something -

No Dislogue with Ansrtheid, Tales Abroszd, Fascism at
Home, 211 sorts of stuff, but they used 1t at the
0AU, so it wes cuite useful that theJ could say
people inside were making all these kinds of inter-
ventions.

We used to send stuff to the movement over-
seas. Anyway, we produced a lot ¢of stuff in the
months before I wes srrested.

: §

Just tell me, how did you go about recruiting them?
ow did you spesk to thep?

ml-

s Well, T just sort of put abstract qve stions to
hem like 'Whet heppens, these deys we've got a
situation wiere vou might find someone nocks on
your door, =2nd he's being hunted by the police,
en MX guerills or somethjng. What would you do?'
Abstrectly, and then, I can't remember the rest.
You see, the thing is someone like this Jenny Rox-
burg is & very honest person. This other bloke
pnesrs to be honest 2nd guite committed without
seying enything,. Didn t seem a2 big step for him to
take, but I think he took it romanticelly.

In her case, T don't think whe realised the
full consecuences of, well both of them didn't
reslise the full consecuences of it. In his cas
it was a2 bit romentic for him. IHe didn't understand
thet it wes a lesting permenent thirg. IN her case
it wo 1ld ha=ve tﬂfer fime to deepen thet. involvement.

So, I con't remember the detrils of how I
reised it. I think in his cese he was essking whet
he should do. I wee feirly friendly with him, I
was friendly with her as well, but it hadn't been &
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Rcont: hadn't been a politicsl one., But it wes s
very sort of close relaticnship in the sense thet
she used to tolx to me = lot about probhlems =and
stuff like this.
S0, there wes o degree of trust in our
reletionshin =2lready. Building on a personszl rel-
ationshiy rather than = political intervention, a
political stete of recruiting.
I used to test out other people, one or to
other peonle, who I had vnolitical discussions with
but I felt wonld be unsuitable.
.2 So, what would have been unsuiteble?

R: Well, you heve to be sure people are going tobe
keep ouiet about this. Becouse, it's like Kun#f -

he did once went to welk out on thig business which
is reclly risking me completely. And you een't have
thet sort of thing.

If someone ig going to be flighty sbout it
emnd not reslise whet is enteiled, thet's ouite »
nroblem. A lot of neo~le are intellectually involved
and they know a lot more than I do about theoretical
things, but they actually haven't got a moral
committment, 4And * think it's a combination of the
moral and theoretical that one looks for. And it s
very difficult to gssesss I still don't know what
mekes womeone morally committed, Cos a lot of people,
especially now, are very involved and they get
positive reinforcement all the time for it.

And when you're working underground you don't
get positive reinforcement for it, so you've got to

be really committed to stert off with. It's very
hard to tell this before the person actually got
involved, how they would react to the stresses .
Something I found, I wasn't actually that scared
when 1 was on my own, But this guy Kunlf was veﬁy
scared and 1 got scared and he used to make me Wery
nervous.

You knowy, +they once had a report, Police
Hunt City Printerfy now I was - sorry at the same time

I should mention - at the same time our rNoneo
machine had broken down and I had taken it in to
be fixed. So, what * do in these instances, is I
put on sunglasses, put on a suit and all this sort
of stuff and I proceed to taske the rioneo machine
down. But I have to use his car, becsuse it was a
fancier car than mine. And he was absolutely pet-
rifeed by this.

Now the result of this was that I started to
think of my activities. This guy had actually writ-
ten a book on this affair, But I've got some here.
It's not published.

He remarks how he once went posting somewhere

and sto,?ed at a post box, there'’s =z policemen there
- StlEF get out and post.

2l
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Recont: if there's a policemen there, I still get out
and post. Now the thing sbout it was, 1 was totally
immersed in doing it; was awsre this was a policee
man but to not post would have been even worse in

the situatmdn, whereas he wss very much more aware
of the conseacuences of being caught doing this,.

Now, I got 211 jumpy in comsecuence. You cen't
tell how people are going to resct in those situations,
until you do recruit them. Now I wee scared, but
I was acclimatised to it.

BrecKeoee

Now let me think what else there wes in thet
perioda

C: What =2bout, you weren't nervous znd then you got
+hem involved end started puttine stuff out and
just the kind of getting more nervous. Yid vou
inow they were onto you?
No, I sort of sensed something, and wecs just
tuitively - you know when you doing illegsl =zctiv-
ies you become cuite susmicious, T mesn suner-—
itious,

T remember in prison, Dave Rabkin once seid
we wellk round =2 little yerd snd there's g ladder, snd
I welked ro nd the lszdder end he sszys why does Jakob
the boer walk under the Ladder, but Suttner the
Merxist walk romd it agin®?

You sort of hedge your bets a2 little bit with
these sorts of things and I didn't feel, just in case
there were some aress of humen existence that dislec-
tic materizlimm doesn't account for, I will not
temnt them by letting Pleck cats cross my path or
whet heve you.

S0, I did intuitively feel something wes
hannening. I was under a2 lot of pressure. You
xnow it's like the South African Defence foree,
When they have 2 huvge intake they don't actuslly
have the structure to handle it properly. Hence,
all sorts of things were going wrong s few yesrs back.
In the grmy. 4nd I think it was becsuse of some-
thing like thet.

It's the ssme with the democrstic movement.

We heve mobilised thoussnds of millions of peodle,
but we naven't asctuerlly orgesnisstionslly deweloned
to thet level,

Now, in my own csse - suddenly I wss nroducing
thoussnds of namphlets and what heye you and T
wesn't sctuelly thinking it out clesrly. I w=as
mseking errors snd I didn't have senior neople zround
me to advise me ss to how to handle things snd we
were going to meet around dnly, but I was nsbbed in
June.,

I3}
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: Where were you going to meet?
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R: Swrozilend or somewhere like thet you know,

1t wes ocuite difficult keepidng two nersonse.
Being legel snd illegel. dJust how to keen an asca-
demic Jjob, do fairly orogressive things snd also
do thie at the seme time.

tnywsy, I wse bringing out a special issue
on the Freedom Charter, in 1975 - twentieth anniver-
22rye @y wanted to get out ten thousend copies and
we were do'ng thet when I was caught.

. : Before June 25th?

R: June 2o0th. 4And, ..do you want to know the detailrs
of why I wezs cavght snd all thet? I meen it's not

madly interesting.

Having ms de thet prelude of how I didn't have
the zssictence of other neonle in getting a2dvice 2nd
thet it wee the prelude to these errors which got me
ceught,

You see, it w=s problemastic to get money in.
30, I wes peying for ou#te 2 lot of things out of my
ovwn money =nd the consecuence wee that when I went to
tet these thoussnds of envelopes, Tt wes very dilf-
icult to buy them. I mean ideslly you should get
Tifty here and fifty there. And it's incredibly
exnensive.

And I found doing it through the universi
was ancnymous, I could do it through the officis
there znd Jjust get blenk envelcpes at the unl-
versity store.

Anywey, I wanted ten thoussnd of & perticulsr

ty
1s

sire. It wes ouite 2 big issue of our thing and
it wes okey except thet they only had three thousand.
They ordered snother seven thousrnd, And these en-

velones hed cuite ¢ distinective mork at the boclk,

So the security rolice just went off to the
fectory snd esked who'd ordered these. And they s-~id
the university. £ind they then cslled the sssistent
at the nlcce =nd they then got me.

Yhen tx ey C[“_U.ftl“f' me, they just hed the nroff
there rignt swoy. Bo I lmew it woes over then for

me. Do it wee Just 2 guestion of,

Ne: You mern thev held tke asgitont =md then theyr got

R: Yesh, they held him for ftwenty four hours., Usntil
They cought re. You see, T'd been nosting in Neritr-—
burg znd when T got back someone shouts *Nr. F:‘U*!:tne:f‘?'
‘nd I crme out., with 2 sort of kosh - T don”

kaow whet I wented to do with it! Defend myeelfl or
whete..1t wes sonething I had bought - I just thought
meybe T covld defend myself should the occasion arise.
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Recont: DBut they didn't kmow who they were getting.
They had eight cezrs with five people in erch - twelve
cars with = huge nuhber of volice. 2nd they 1l
surrounded me snd I put my thing down very cuickly.

And within 2 short while, they informed me
thet they knew 711 this informstion. The thing is
they Just didn't know who else wee involved in it,
so this wers the problem.

nd, do you went to kmow sbout the interrogeti
ion? Well, they sort of sesrched my houvse for ~bo t
an rour or so. 1 woe rtoying in those deys in Tueens-
borough just outside Durbsn. The:r toolr me to molice
hendcv: rtere, speeisl branch, in Fisher Street it'e
celled snd they ecked cuestiong rnd cuestiore snd they
wented teo Ynow who these other neonle were.

I ceme out with 211 sorte of things like I
rerlly didn't knovi who the: were., I wused o o

anc. meet someone in the middle of come npork or core-
thivge I didn't know wio he or she wre. 2&nd they
kent on snd on.

Wy feeline wee T

& vee gseoing to be berten ur or
tortured so T vrnted o be tortured whenm T wee abyon-
retoer then vhewn T weo wenl-, bo* T'd he~rd storien -
of how reorle hrdn't said = word for dsys ond then
they collepsed and told everything., I didn't went
to he tortured when I wor werk, I wented to zcturlly
if they were going to do, do it eond ~et it over L
with.
So I s2id lock here I'm not ssying snything
T don't mesn to be rude, but thet's 211 I'm going
to 82y. 'But you sre being rude.' #Hnd they lkent on
et me for 2 while snd then &t 2 certazin roint,
Colonel Steenkrmp, vho's now head of the Special
Branch, or Vow“1Q1oner of Tolice, I cen't remember
vhich, about a yesr ago, came in and twisted my

nose yOU. SEe.

Ll

£: Was thet the first time they'd been physicel?
R: Hmme A few doys leoter I looked in the mirror and
There wes blood on my nose. Thet was like & signal
for the violence. He srid 'This is a very serious,’
I didn't know who he was. And e..(?591)

A short while l=ter, Warr-nt Officer Tayloe, who
I believe is g C9nt91n now, ceme in wecring s
butcher's uniform. And he blindfolded me =nd took
my glesses off. T h-d like sunglassses end s=2id now
we sre going to tesch you something. Took me eway
end handcuffed me, stripned me and then nut eclectrodes
on my genitals ﬂnd on my fingers and my hends were
swollen snd my elbows were swollen for cuite = long
time sfter thet. He kept on putting it on off, on off,
on off, on off, wanted to know who wes working
witha,
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gagged you cec. So you indicste
3 thet you want to tell them some-

v

Rcont: Mnd you g
through tine gag
thing.

n

T

S0 I wees telling them stuff zbout oversess snd
21l thet sort of thing. AMnd it's guite interesting.
In spite of getting electric shocks you can sctually
think. There were some thirge I sctually wented to
inform neople of,

For example, I wanted the people to know
I had been held. No one knew I was held, so I
needed others to escane, The rule is you escape
when someone else is held,

They didn't hemnen to escene, but they were
inforfred of it =nd the one, the womsn Roxborough
drew out money, but she didn't push off. Anywsy..

@: They were informed by other people?

R: They were informed becosuse they raided the uni-
versity. I hed stuff hidden at the university sand
I told the police thissg

Now, once you raid the university, everyone
knowis thet you've been arrested. Now these neople
could heve gore. But, there wes also 2 danger.
The longer, the more stuff they went through at the
university, the more it migsht lead them to who the
other people were.

Side endSeseesb633
STDE B: 0OCO

Rt They were elre-dy cuestioning people about who
T knew snd =11 thet, so thet together with certsin
otner things mignt very well hsve led them to who
I wee working withn.
nd I came to reslise thet they must heve arrect-
these other two guys, after anout two ays when the
cvestioning seemed to change,
In the mesntime, they did torture me some more
Tike - during these electric shocks I informed them
of the university, so the whole of the next dsy, they
were coming in to ask me mew things after this reidi
nd I didn't sleep at 21l1l. They just carried o
on interrogeting me the next dsy. They didn't tor-
ture me during the dey. Then, wast hapened wsas,
at 2bout five or seven o'clock, one of these guys,
a2 chey celled Coetzee, who's had he2lf his esr bitten
off by some wrestler or some criminal, I don't know
wnet, tekes me off to Durbesn Police 3tation and seys
lock, you just go =nd heve 2 good nights sleep and
tomorrow you can meke & clesn bresst of it and you'll
feel fine vou know. He reslly felt good about that.
50, mew I wouldn't be left slene. About fiwe
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Recont: About five minutes of them going, you hear
thisg guy sheuting, *'Ons ge'n Jjou voklking comunist,
Jjou vokking dood mesk.' We're going to kill thet
fucking communiset end I'm going to kgﬁk him end this
that and the other.

And you know cells meke & helluvas noise, SO
even the cell dcor is enougn. to mske you pretty
scered without the shouting.

And they come banging creshing in there asnd
it's these young thugs, sort of warrent officers
level,

Md what they went to pretend is that they're
doing things off their own. The officers know no-
thing 2bo:t it. You see, when I wes tortured the first
tire, I'm blindfolded so theoreticelly I cen't ident-
ify snyone.

Then the sgecond time, it's now the youngsters
deing it wi thout the Imowledge of the others., iny-
wey, it ween't so hersvy. Well it wre ovite he' vy,
stonding, £1d in 2 crouched nesition balfﬂ01nf whet

they c.§{ed my bibleg Marx and HEngels snd Leﬂﬂﬂ on
my s£rm ovtstretched =nd exercises aﬂd lying on the
teble in uncorfortsble positions, »nd various sorts
of demesning sorte of activities. This sgein went
right throvgh the night if + remember correctly.
nd the next morning the officers srrive,
Did you hrve ¢ nice sleep? and =11 this like sort of
ﬂer1ect!w hangy end whst hove you. And then they
call me 1ﬂto STeFBZﬁmmr pffice and he ssys to me,
Look here, you ﬂre comnletelv uncooperstive, TI've
got your disry here and Tom going to arrest the whole
lot of them.
Now, obviocusly, I'm not such s moron thet
I'm going to keep in my diery wneople who I'm working
withe So I said just do that, it's on your corscience
end you cen car y on this tortu ‘e it's still going
to meke no difference. And he liked looked shocked
as if Whet em I talking sbout? and all thet sort of
stuffe

S0, anywey, as I say, around the Wedneesdey,
after s2bout two days, 0bv10ﬂsly they'd got these
othier neonle bhecsuce the tone of the cuestioning

n

chenged. £And it wes a ouestion of mon ing un op-
erations from then on.
A11 along they h=d enough to convict me,

So they wented to finish the ceee 2nd I assumed we'd
=11 be charged, but these others were chviously
merked out as being victims of this, my meferious
activities, and they ended up using them as strte
witnesses, snd me cherged.

There were =z few sort of amusing instences
in this situstion. Tike, they still think there's
more thst I know, thet I know zbout Yeremy e
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Reont: And Devid, who I'd never met before. So they

are £till trying fo find out sbout theot. And they
c~ll me into this guy Steenkemp's office, =2nd he s:-ys
Yow. €it on the ¥Yloor beczuse you are Ltwenty yesrs.
younger then me or something. #nd he srys stuff to
me =nd gives me g2 long lecture,

'Jen Smuts died before his time. Brahm Fischee:
wes born before his time,' £nd 211 this sort of
long hrrengue, and then 'How wonld you like it if
the frebs rrided Isresel?' Imnlying that I must nec-

gserily be a Zionigt or somethingd
And then he scys, 'If you don't ta
will heve to resort to XGB methods.' £nd I srgued,
saying that you heve 2lrezdy used, if you mesn by the
torture - I didn't wsnt to argue with him and sry it
had alresdy veen used.

My attitude was I'm not going to 2sk for g
hiding. And then he srys, 'Wet hom weg', Take him
awey. And they Just took me awey and + think thet
wee the end of the violence, and the next few wecks.
of my detention, I was just, they were just mopning
up on the cssge, #nd then I was in court.

: Just before you go on to that stsge, how did you
Teel? Were you pretty nissed off thet those two h=d
not gone 2 they were sup-osed to?

R: You know, ag 1 sey, I felt - I mesn I think it's
comnletely wrong to be a2 State Witness, but in their
cese, you know they hadn't hed a long time of involwe-
ment like mycself. So I do feel thet no-one should be
~ stete witness, but I think I didn't feel very
angry. I feel it's wrong for anyone vo do it, not
the perticulsr individucesl.

In the vparticulesr individusl's csse, 1t w=s
perhans more mitigeting, if there is mitigrticm,
than if there’s someone who is sezsoned activist,
like Sey Beyner(?) felt snd geve evidence against
Brehm Figcher. o, T didn't feel particulearly
upseta.

Rt

Hh S

I meen, at the same time if people ssid it,
wes 0.K. I said no it's not o.k. Not because 1t wes
me, S0, it didn't worry me perticularly. '

0: Tt didn't meke you feel bitter?

R: No, you know, basically it didn't meke much 4iff-
erence to my - I don't think I would hezve got less
or more and I would heve felt differently if it wes
someone like .eremy who ig & close friend of mine
were to do something like thi=. I would be stunned.
I just don't believe it is possible for “eremy to

do something like th:-t. But I don't re~c=ré& those
neonle in the srme light. -
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Bcont: They were not real comrades you know. I haéd t«
do the writing on my own. I couldn't really gain mucl
from thepm. Whereas when Jeremy worked he worked with
David Ratkin and Susan Rabkin and they very quickly
were _very sort of reliasble people in themselves, And
now I didn't have that. I didn't feel the same way.

Q: How long were you held before the trisl?

R: Five months, but not all of it was detention. Some
of it was a waiting trial.

Q3 So when did you have the trial finally?
R: It was November 13, 197%

%: Let me just go back before you get into that,
ecause I didn't ask you one thing about your re-
cruitment stage. You actually met Slov€r. Was that
- by 1985, he's been in the papers so much and the
Sunday Times has pieces about it. At that stage,
was he some kind of big figure to you?

R: No, well I had read the stuff he‘'d written and T
admired that veyy much and in so far as + had dealt
with him I had a lot of admiration for - well let's
put it this wsy, I don't want to comment about

what he is doing at the moment, because that is some-
thing for him to decide on at the moment, because
there are certain legal constraints, if I were to
approve it I would lay myself - let me say that in

my dealings with him, I have a lot of admiration for
what he does, what he has done, and I admifed his
understanding of various things. But wag a very
minor aspect of what he was doing presumably, ¢eal-
ing-with me, What didn't come through in the way

he appears in the press, is that he's got a very good
sense of humour. He's very funny.

I remember, he used to come and see me and I
stayed with some old woman who was one of these Christ-
ian Science people, Ron Hubbard's group and I was
busy explaining she goes out, and she's here during
the day, and goes out to work, so he ssys *Yes, she
~works for him' trying to imply that this womagn is
keeping me., He's a very funny guy and he was always
messing around with jokes and so forth. I saw a side
to him, which doesn't emerge in the picture of him
as some sort of gorgon monster in the press.

Qs Does that also say something about the actual
numbers of white artivists in South Africa then?
That someone as senior as him would be working with
someone as unseasoned as you?

g: I don't know, I wouldn't like to say. I don't
know what his status is, or cos I really don't know,
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Q: Is that a commentary on the numbers of is that a
commentary on the ...

R: There were very few people working, whatever his
seniority or otherwise might have been, which I don't
know. But, I think that there were very few people,
I mean ANC and the Communist Party was not very actiwe,
cos Umkonto we Sizwe didn't have the military
presence. In the country at the time, our prescence
in these sort of propagenda things was virtually
the only presence that there was in the country at
the time when this business set in.

So, that is true in a sense,

{: Because the other thing, I'm getting too involved
in your story, that I want to bring out is the role
of whites, Did you have any sense of the thing that
there were blacks doing the same thing in the town-
ships? Who couldn't just walk into the university
store and get envelopes?

R: No, I think it was a job that was certainly much
egsier for a white to do - well certainly not for
an Africen. Timoll was a teacher so he had access
to certain things.

I mean it recuired skills. I knew how to
type, so that was one less person | needed to recruit
if I needed to get someone else to type. I think
Timoll . had to get someone to type if I remember
correctly, _ -

So I could type. I had access to various
other things, like I had a car. So there were a
variety of reasons which made it much easier for
wnites to do that sort of work.

Either =zlone or po%entially in collzhcretion
with blacks, but 1 didn't meet blacks who I could
potentially recruit.

f: Did the people outside try to encourasge you to
recruit blacks? or did they feel it was better to
work with whites?

R: They didn't try and encourage me to recruit any-
one until that very late stage in my case.

Qs And this identification with the Timoll case was
Pecause it happened right when you were sort of ...

R: But he was doing the same sort of things as me.

'+ I never knew that.

L

R: It's quite stark. If you doing that kind of work
The coding methods are very similar and 211 that, so

you sort of get a foretaste of what's going to happen
0 you.
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8Q: So, how do you sort of learn that? Cos I never knew
anything about this case?

R: Well,it's in the press and that. It was a very big
case. He's one of the people who's one of the heros
of the struggle and he's one of the people who people
feel very upset about. He died in a period when there
were very few things happening and people feel very
affected by it. Still. He's still mentioned as one
of the heros, In songs and poems.

%: I know he was a hero from being held in detention,
ut * never knew his case was that he was doing
propaganda.

B¥ He did this stuff when he was with Amina Desaij
and Mohammed Esop.

Q: Because often it doesn't come out, because with
other detainees who've died in detention you never
know . i

R: No, this is what he was doing.

C: So, can I just ask you a bit about that? So you
Tremember opening the paper and thinking this really
hits home or how did it happen?

R: No, I looked at the pictures and when I read it I
Ccould see he was doing the sezme things as me.Just

in case I had any doubts as to the treatment 1 would
get in detention, it was brought home fairly force-

Q: And you didn't say to yourself but. 42 at that
stage or whatever blacks have died, but no white has
ever died?

R: No, I thought I might well die in detention.

Q: Once you were detained? But when you read that in
The paper when he died and there had ngver been a
white until Agget died in detention. Did you think
to yourself, that s what happens to a ﬂlack but it
would never happen to a white?

R: No, I didn ‘t think so. I thought it was a poss-—

Thility. I dfdn't actually think at the time, T

was the first white to get electric shocks as far

as I understend it. But not supprisingly, because
I'd heard about it and I was psychologically pre-
ared for it. I don't know how I feel now, but

%hen I was =TI remember one person talklng to me and
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Rcont: and saying you've got to get it into your hedd
tThat you may die, but there's something bigger that
continues and get yourself into that frame of mind,
And it's ar everdya matter for Africans to
be tortured, to get electric shocks and all that.
And in some situations I think it's bebter to die
than to do some things so 1 hope I will continue
to believe that. But I was fairly reconciled to
that pessibility. I thought it wes quite possible
that they would kill me, But I mean that's a bit
unrealistic and I wasn't such a big shot that they
would have killed me, They make mistakes - you
know they keep the shocks on too long and all that.

%: But I think there is a feelinﬁthng whites now,

mean especially before Agget, that what they did

to blacks they wouldn't do to whites. Did you feel
that?

R: No not really. No not really., They broke both
Allen Brooks®' legs - Allen Brooks is a friend of mine.
So I knew that, and they beat up Stephanie ¥emp, so

I knew they, would beat me up.

Asopecause of my CP links - it's different
with liberals. T mean Agget wasn't - I didn t know
him wedl, but certsinly in my view he wasn't a member
of anyparticular organisation. So thpt in itself
is unusual.

_ They tend to kill people who are actually
linked to these orgesnisstions.

Q: Tet me just be a bit clinical so I can understand
it - how your case w: s different. You would ssy that
whites have been tortured before and beaten up
before, but ..

R: Mainly Communist Party and ANC people.

(,: Because people habe said to me you were treated
worse than any white before you.

R: That might be true. I'm trying to think - you
know Allen Brooks had both his legs broken, =so T _
can't teally say that to be electric shocked is worse,

.t But that was a fact -~ do you think it was because
They didn't give electric shocks before or just
because they didn't do it to whites?

R: No, they'd dmne electric shocks before, but they

Redn't caught a CP person for year.s. They didn't
believe when I admitted thet w-s the cese. 1T

mesn they did believe it, but they were a bit stagger-

ed.Then they would go to the opposite extreme and say
I was Brahm Fischer's successor., And I szid well I

swal 2Ruws 20l
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Rcont: And I.seid 'Well, I wish that were so, but
it's not the cezse.' And they accused me of writing
some things which I hadn't written, =snd which were

the official organs of the CP and the ANC.

And ook Here would bhe glad if that
were me an% A % % all éshamed of thet materi=zl,

but I don't wrlte s well as thet.' So they
couldn't understend that I would a2dmit thst proudly.
ind I think thsat - but they wanted urgently to find:
these people before they skipped the country. That's
why they tortured me.

s And =2[,y it wes the first czse - I ' don't know
about Allen Brooks ...

R: He wes in ARM, but he's =ctually also in other
thingsa.

_* fnd thet was weay back in the sixties.
R: In '04.

s That wes ten yesrs Wes there anyone else in those

Ten years?

[Aoumbams
R: HeSgy ond sl=eee(?) were tortured = bit. I can't
remembér the deteils, but they =are cuite funny, these
security mnolice.
They like, he wss sunburnt and they'd t=ke
sendvaner you krow rnd go snd rub the sunburn off end
this sort of thin: with Hosg.

J_S

.t How is his name spelt?

R: Hosey - he's 2 British citiren. He came out here
To do this stuff here #nd ther he v e2s nsahhedsg
I 00ﬂ't krow wheat else they did to hime, They
didn't tortukte him muc: you seea
, ind there sre no other whites thet I c=n re-
member, since the '64 period whofs been tortured,

Q: There weren't reslly people nicked un. There
vwesn't much going on.
R: There were peonle picked up. Well, the Dezn of

1 71, He ween't tortured, but they degrsded him.

Johrnnesbury wrs crerch ‘nretty be d?y Thet w2
i
fle wee TFrencihBeytach(?) They treated him badly.

F: T think he's oversess, tnd then there wes This

- -
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Rcont:s And then there wes this guy Quinton Jacob-
son, who they asctueslly aocuitted. It wes around the
time of libwekdsd. e had something like t+he Ansrchist's
Cookbook or something. And they tried to show that
tThis WoSess

€2 What sbout if you were to talk about the trisl it-
self?

R: My trial?

Q: Yeah. ©So whet exactlys...it was five months after-
wards?.

R: Yes, I wag deteined for something like 49 days,
Then I wes in Durbsn central prison while I wes a-
waiting triel. '

I think it's guite interesting to know =2
little bit about the prison. Because, I don't knaov,
I had an idea of whet detention would be like.
Howeverrterrible it wss, it wss more or less whet I
expected.

Wheress I somehow felt awaiting trisl would
be grest. And going into a prison is dreadful. Just
the whole - like the doors everything, evergthing
makes such a noise. This sort. of Bhattering sound.
Every time they opened the key - these guys pride
themselves, the youngsters in putting the keys in.

I think it may be that there’s like an
eaquivalent of a sexual connotstion. Shove the key
in and sort of pull it herd - sort of like rape
almost. Bang, cresh, you know it sounded like shat-
tering glesss every time they opened. Your nerves
are really on edge in those places,

And they would make a noise right through
the night. The first ndght I was there someone
tried %o slit his wrists and I thought O God,
is this what happens every night in prisonid And I
just felt terribly shaken. _ '

But I did get used to it. <t was much
better when we were convicteds I was for five months
‘there and basically it was quite interesting.

The white prisoners generally had a very good
attitude towards us political ones., Except one or
two who shout abuse at things. On the whole there
was quite a lot of respect. Particularly amongst
violent ones. They were very impressed when we
firet arrived in prison and get seven and & half
FEaYrsSe
: They can't understand this and also that
you're not at all ashamed. They found it very odd.
They would keep on saying 'Hy is a vare gentleman.®
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Rcont: He is a gent. thet guy. Cos I'm a1l respect-
able gnd all that. They can't understafid why I rocke
up there,.

G: But this was the politicals....(?261)

R: After I was convicted I wes also with these guys a
blt-they kept me in solitary after I was convicted
a bit. But I'1ll tell you about that just now.

“: I guess I want to meke sure that I get what the
whites have to do. What did you expect to see in the
courtroom? It must have been really important to,
see the supporters., Had you had any visitors during
the five months?

R: Yeah, while I was aweiting triall 1 alwsys had
Tots of visits. I had used up all my visits and let®ers
every day. I had quite a lot of friends in Durban,
but my family would come down as well.

Peopge in Durban orgasnised to send me food an
they came in every daye. Or whatever with visits.
I don't remember how many visits you could have = 1T
think two & week or one a dsy, I can't remember.

Anywey, so when I arrived in court, there
were people there.

C: And (?275)
Re On the finel day, they were,cuite upset, you see,
T think they .were upcet when T’ talked in court and I
think the way they run the show, the wey court cases
awe depicted - on the one hand, you(ve got the

ate trying to presnet an ideological picture of
sqmeone who decerves to be sent to Jjsil, who's done
these terrible deeds etc, etc,

Mnd when you wstch this being unfolded, it
doesn't actuslly correspond to the way you understand
what you've done,

Although 1 wes admitting that I hod done

ed it —-Iﬁve rCﬁU”. y wrltter on tmeqe tﬂlﬂ(“ in tpﬂt
south £fricen Review article - it sctuelly depicts
1t in a wey thet demerits it of 211 socizl content.

So it becrme 2 technicel matter. It w-s
helluva boring this court cese = reslly I was like
f2lling #_leen most of the time.

So, it's only when you do get o chsznce to
have your own s&y, throt you sort of sg+ bsck - I
don't know whet you csll it - the forces of evill -
but you set back orce rgein and affirm the correct-
ness of what you've done and set 2 new , and you
contest the terrain.

‘oe 0/25-6 o 294



oe./25...294 fi Suttner.

Rcont: And you contest the terrain ssying No, I'm
not prepared to accept this, that and the other,

I was %etting a bit upset about thit obviously.
And that was think g dgsy or two before was
sentenced. I was found guilty and then on the day
of sentencingl I seemed very upset and I didn't
understand why. And then when I rocked up there,
Winnie Mandela wzs there, wearing green gold and
black you knowe I didn't expect her there, but I
thought it wag very nice.

Q: *'76 was this?
R: November *75.

e

So she was still living in Sowetd?

Rs She'd just been unbanned for a while. (Yes) There
hadn't been political trials for a long time. And
I wasn't quite sure whether to stick my fist up and
I wasn't sure how people would react. And when I
stuck my fist up they 211 immediately stuck their
fists up. It was a mainiy black crowd and I belleve
- when I was downstairs, they were all singing Mkosi
Sikelele Africa, and my mother told me the Judges
btegistrar was in tears.

So, it waes an unusual case, because people
I xnow hadn't seen a case for a long time and they
were a bit shocked that I should say I was correct
and that my career should be wasted as they thought
it was.

Q: And there hadn't been any black trials recently
before that?

R: Not so many.

%: When you saw Winnie Mandela, did she say anything
o you?

R: Yes. I can't remember somethlng like hello, how

are you?l. I was telling about Nelson mainly and 1

was shouting across the dock you know and basically
don't thirk we understood what one snother was

of police between us,

Sp I think there's a cuote of what she said to you
in the book I read.

R: I have seen it. I don't know if that's what she
said to me, but It was in the newspapers - I've got
cuttings of the trial.

coe/260.4326
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B: Do you want to say much about the trial itself?

R: Basically very boring. The thing with these cases
is they produce every typewriter and every piece of
paper and 1'd already admitted half the stuff.

Basically they wanted to give the impression of
this terrible communist who'd done 211 these thingse.
And one of the newspapers had a photograph - I can
show you the cutting gctually, it's ‘quite interest-
ing., They were making out that I wag a very attract-
ive personality, always smiling and this, so the
impression they were trying to give is that I was
underneath this deep criminal, sort of this psycho-
pathic personality.

. S0, the image of the -apparently nice guy,
along with these lots of boxes and pamphlets and
equipment was meant to imply that this is how devious
these types are and that while appearing to be so
they used a word *innemindeglimlage' meaning engaging
smile or something like that. and it was actually
to entice people into these nefarious activities.

So they go through all these boring activities
to prove that sort of you know. I was falling asleep
except that they produced various things. Like they

Sechaba with sort of quotes from our magazines
“nd I was very interested in that and I wanted to
See my own copye. <For my defence I said, and they
wanted to play excerpts of Freedom Radio but the
defence lawyers objected., But 1 was very happy
about this I would like to have heard @te. But
they thought it would prejudice my case you seec,

As interest goes I thought it was helluva

boring.

.Q: Who were your lawyers?

R: George Bizos and Raymond Tucker.

e

Is there anything to say sbout the trial in terms
of you being white?

"R: I don't know. I think I was given cuite good

attention by the press. I thought the press trested
me reasonsably well. The Jjudge, I think the Jjudge
said I wes disgusting especially to entice this
young woman - it was shockingl? Judging from the
judgement, they sort of implied that this nerson

had recently had & romentic involvement and some -
~one like me took =dventage of this, to entice her
into my - he used the word nefarious - activities,

oos/270..366



ta-/27...366 R Suttner.

Lt And how would you’ say — I read the thing you wrodke
about in the South Africsn Review — thet what the Stde's
trying to do with the white trizls as opposed to =2

black trisle.

R: I think a white trial - it's similar in a way,
except in a2 black trisgl, they have to extrsct from a
whole history of repression, suppression, denigl of
rights '

Now in the case of & white, qbV1ous]y that's
not part of my history. 4nd it's more in my head a
motivation which aren t reslly tsken accountcof in
the trisl. Only when you give your speech from the
dock - you can't do that anymore. Then you can bring
out your side.

But 4 think with the whites they went to de-

piet neonle as ordinary - no, I wouldn't like to say
ordinery criminals, that's too simplistic. I think
they have problems with it. I can't remember how
thiey trested Brahm Fischer.

In my case, the judge didn't try to engsge
me on the morazl cuestions.. I raised moral reasons
why I did things and he just said basically that's
no excuse and didn't go into it. He just bucked the
ouestion.

Yo, it would vary. 1 didn't like to - you
know in Barbara Hogan's case however, I'se actually
done an analygis of that in some other article. But
this chap says 'When we come to punishment, we apply
basic principleste The punishment must fit the crim-
insl ‘and the crlme.

Now, whsat he's doing here is first of 211 he's
ﬂbSbT”Ctlng from a veriety of other things. PFirst of
2ll, apesrtheid's & crime in intermationesl law., Now,
that doesn't come into consideration. Barbars Hogen's
own motivations, ithe fact that she acted in support d-
a movement thzt has a lot of suprort whatever one
might think of that,. Thaffisn't taken account. Shels
ebstracted and isolsted as sn individual criminal.

He then goes to tslk about this very seriou
thing that she's done., .Disturbing the peace and
trancuility in South Africa especielly in so sensitive
a2 field =28 the lzbour field.

Inywey, this agein imrlies there's pesce and
tronouility in South Africoe Now whot sort of peace
and tranouility is there in Crossro=zdsz? Resettle—
ments end so forth. There's an attempt then to
individuelise the offender o5 the sort of excenticon
who hes disturbed a basicelly peaceful society.

Wost judges don't go thet far. This is »
p:rtiﬂulprlﬁrepctlen ry judge who 4id this.

0: And why did you think chet was, beczuse they were
Peing too effective?
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R: I don't know. I don't think that's necessarily
why. I think that they had other reasons, There's

a commission that was amended abolishing a State Wit-
ness from the docky for other reasons. I don't know
whether it had anything to do with statements which
people made. I'm not sure.

Q: O0.K: So the trisl - I was interested in your
Situation with whites and also because you obviously
with your whole legel background, did you feel you
got anymore insights intofthe role of the judiciary
through your detention?

R: Yes. But I must say first of all, I got a lot of
support in certain sedétions of the university aca-
demic sector. Law sector - there was a lot of ant-
agonism amongst certain people. I don't know
exactly why, but there was a lot of very heavy att-
itudes. You know, although I generally had a lot

of support, I didn't get it from a lot of these
sectors. ;

As regords students, they were very support-
ive. Young people in general.

As regards insight into the judiciary, the
sort of thing I'm writing now, is partly as a result
of seeing from the other side the way a trial is
depicteds I didn t recognise myself as the way it
was depicted., 4 Took at the way a trisl is construct-
ed, as a reconstruction of an historical event, a:
series of events - now they actuslly only consider
certain things ‘significant. The result is that
what the accused considers most significant seems to
get very little §howing often., And I was aware of
that, but T didn t write on it for a long time,
because ¥ wasn't - studying lawf in prison until near
the end. #nd basically it was only when I was allow-
ed to register at Unisa for a doctorate in law -
you had to do too many theses - the one is this
thing that I'm going to publish on the judiciary,

I started to do quite a lot of work on ite.
It's supposed to be twenty five pages and it was
ninety nine pages double spescing. 4+ did ocuite =
lot of work but it was ideas that I had been think-
ing of before I went to jail but I think that that
experience helped to crystallise some things.

€: And is that experience one that whites wouldn't
even be gble to understend that aspect of apertheid
society except for being in that position?

R: I wouldn't say so. No I think there are a lot of
Things you can begin to understand without experienceing
them. I think that prison is something for a white ®
go into if he or she wents to understond whet it's

like to undergo privetions every day like blacks doa
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R: But g¢rials is something else you know.

Q: At the trial there were lots of blacks in the court.
Were they blacks you knew or were they just there
because of wht you represented?’

R: Some of ‘them I knew, but most I didn't. They were
:Very warm.

0: So thet must have been really interesting.

R: No, it wes very nice. I saw the last comy of the
doily news, so I could see the hesdlines and | reslised
They nad sung in court so + hed some ideaz. And it

wes something thet kept me going for =2 while, Cos

they kept me in solitary for three and a half months
after that. It was quite iportent as that memory.

Q: And when was this July '76. So after the trial,
you were in solitary for three months and then they
put you into Pretoria Central. So wes thet finally
important to get in with those guys.

R:Yeah. It was terrible in solitery. Because 1
was expecting to go straight to the others and they
interrogated me some more.

Q: Why?

R: Well, they thought 1 knew =bout Jeremy and Dsvid
=nd other groupings and so they kept me there. You
get ocuite a fright. Suddently you find sixteen of
these guys rock up to pguestion you and well T just
waesn't sure whet would happen - whether I would get
beaten up or whet. And they still kent me there
after that for asnother three and sz hs=lf months.

It w=s nice being put with the others.

Q: Who wzg thepe?

R: Dave Kitsen,Dennis Goldberg, Alex Mambeores, Marids
gﬂpgn, Shaun- Hosey, John *a#hews, Tomms, - Raymond
Tomms - I didn't =z2ctuslly communicete with him,
becauce he hsd bheen =2 Stotd Witness, in the came
ageinet Herold Strachen.

I*m trying to think who else. . That wes all
ot the beginning. but do you went to know who was
there during my whole period or?

Then Jeremy Cronin, David Ropkin, Tim

Jenking, Stephen Teeg, ..

N2 Whet were they two bust for?

=

: Same things as me.

: Doing pamphletse.

1o

: They were very effective, because Jenkins had had
ery high level training in that sort of stuff. He

wzs very good with his hands, He could produce very
b.t/30.-.511
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Reont: He could produce very effectively.
_ Then there was Renfrew Christie and Guy Berger
I'm trying to think who else, And I didn't see Rob
Adam though he was there at the Same time as me, but
in a different part.And well there's others there now.

Q: Who else is in now since (?..518)

=¢)

: Guy Gerrard and Carne House (?) and what's this
guy s name, Hannekom, Roland Hunter.

1o

: S0, it was a pretty small group.

R: It's always pretty smell. The maximum which we
had was ten.
Q:

Were you welcomed right in or was 1t kind of high
initially?

R: Yes, it was terrific. I hadn't spoken to anyone
Tor months, so it was very nice. 4&nd it was a very
supportive comrunity. One has problems because
we're in such close contact. But if anyone is attack-
ed or hss a difficqﬂi time with the authorities, we
2ll stand together,

It was very moving in that respect. But it
was difficult, because why you're actually quite
enyoy being alone jn your cell 2t night, because
it's quite tense having such a small groun. But
I learnt a lot in the experience.

C: And this is a difficult cuestion, but what do
You think got you through your time in prison?
Was it that comradie with the others?

R: Prison is got so difficult if you are a political
prisoner. Because in the first place you go in
there with your head held high - you're comrletely .
proud of what you've done. An& 1f you, remember that
all =long and don't forget thet,a) nSJcholoﬂlcOTIJ,
you start off very well, Secondly, your job in
prison is to come out a better person, better able
to nley 2 role in the struggle and I think it's
importsnt not to weste your time in prison snd to
come out feeling thet you've grown. ‘I feel I grew
moreslly and intellectuslly =snd my political under-
standing is better. And, some people come in and
they feel very sorry for themselves as if they ‘re the
onTy people who've ever been in prison.
m MAnd it wesn't very difficult because of T
sed every moment - there wrs too little time in prison
g% for as I'm concerned. I worked hard, there wss a
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Rcont: I worked herd, there wzs 2 . lot of digcussian,
T understend 2 lot of th-ng#nuca better. And morally,
it's very difficult and out of morsl difiicult sit-
ustions, you can either collspse or you E£row,

; And 1 think that most peonle grow in them.
nd it wesn't s deily problem. Really hesyy at times
but on the whol o0 problems

C: And wes there any one of the white politicel
prisoners who wos more of a mentor, who you looked to
in terms of theoretical kmowledge or .

R: We tended to wwrk collectively and lezrn a lot
FTrom one another.

((: Did you commnare notes with other political prison-
ers? Is ther: really a bond between beople? Tike
Hugh Tewin's book?

' i .

R: No, I read ”ug“ Lewin s book before. It was very’
useful to read. I discgfee with some of the nositions
he tokes in @etention - I actually wrote something
eriti cising one of the charges against me. It's 2
bit defestist in my opinion, the ovpening .vmrt of it.
But the.book itself is wvery good .

C: What, that he doesn't have 2 better attitude about
what detention cen do?

R: No, I think once Left which gives evidence ageinst
nim, he feels betrayed ond I can't remember bhp storye.
As far as I'm concerned, even if an individuel
betrays you there's something bigger thon the individ-
usl involved. And L ean't remember the grounds dbutb
At seems fatelistic and it s a very good book. I've
no nroblems — I*d like to méet him. I hone T mecet
him sometime, i

-

Hove you ever compared rotes with other politicsl
prlsoners? Black polltlcal prisoners?

g: Yes, a lot.

Q: What is that like? Again I'm into my black/white
thing.

R: I think that it's easier in some ways for them.
Tn the beginning both white and black prisoners |
before I got to jail had a very heavy time, especially
on the island, I mean many of them were treated
badly it sounds,

But I think a small group is much more diff-
iculﬁl 1t's much more difficuyfl to smuggle., We

103 ?%?eyESFS?apinﬁ forh£3a¥o éggg%idnail %hese things.
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Reont: Well we did with radios. But they smuggled
easily. They had a great time in that regerd.

Also we didn't have a lot of senior people and
the consequence is that the ekxtent to which you can
l®arn is less in a community like ours was. And also
the degree of authority that some people can have
if you've got about twenty people there who are rezslly
top people.

But also, the degree af tensions at a persom-
al level is less there than it would be in our group,.

Q: And the guestion I asked apout the differences you
put in between your era of political prisoners and
the new whites who came and there was the Goldberg/
Kitson ee..

R: The differences were interesting in the sense:
of people's - these guys went to jail in 1963-64.

The consequences were that there was a big
cultural gap in the things that we experienced. T
think there was also, people like Jeremy Cronin,
David Raﬁkin must have had a very similar type of
background agademically. S

That s the one thing. n the other hand,
we grew up in a different period. The things we
knew the friends we had, these people didnit have.

There was a sort of cultural barrier and the
age barrier was a problem.

It also affected one's attitudes to diff-
erent things. There might be different attitudes
to women say and so on a political level also -
for years there were political discussions going
on arguing about certain things.

There wasn't plways cohesion., Eventually
there was mo:e cohesion. {ne position became
more dominent than enother, But I mean, there was
a lot of room for discussions and differences.

Q: Did you feel that someone like Renfrew Christie
represented a whole different era?

R: T donit think he was specifically recruited and.
"Thereforé under an organisction's discipline.

TAPE ENDSese..656
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